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Chapter |

Joseph E. Johnston and The Army of Tennessee

The Atlanta Campaign was initiated on May 4th, 1864, by General
William Tecumseh Sherman's advance on the Confederate positions ai Dalton,
Georgia. Sherman had been placed in command of the Military Division of the
Mississippi when General U. 5. Grant was promoted to the newly-created grade
of Lieutenant-General, turning over the western armies to Sherman in whom he
had the utmost confidence. Grant visited General Meade, and then went to
Nashville to visit with Sherman on March 18th, 1864. Setting down his plans
and objectives in two letters to Sherman on April 4th and April 19th, Grant
stated that the two main objectives of the Federal Army would be the Army of
Tennessee under General Joseph E. Johnston and the Army of Northern Virginia
behind the Rapidan River under General Robert E. Lee. Also, General Benjamen F.
Butler was to move on Richmond from south of the James River while General Sigel
was to move down the Valley of Virginia. This was the grand strategy of the last
year of the war. !

After the disastrous Chattanooga~Chickamauga-Lookout Mountain Campaign,
the Army of Tennessee under General Braxton Bragg had managed to end its
flight of Dalton, Georgia, on November 28th, 1863. The condition of this army
was pititul, and General Bragg resigned to become Commander-in-Chief and Military
Advisor to President Jefferson Davis. Although General William J. Hardee was the

Senior Corps Commander, he did not want the command of the entire army. After

much discussion in Richmond, General Joseph E. Johnston was appointed to command



the Army of Tennessee, an appoiniment which proved most popular with the
soldiers of the army. We must remember that, although often a story of frustra-
tion and might-have-beens, the Army of Tennessee had carried the Confederacy
on its bayonets as the Army of Northern Virginia had done in the East. At Shiloh
and Corinth, Murfreesboro, and until its defeat under the inept Bragg, this army
had been a good one and a fough one. [t was now Johnsion's responsibility to
restore it to excellent fighting condition. 2.

Joseph Eggleston Johnston was born at Cherry Grove near Farmville,
Virginia. Following his father who had served with George Washington, Johnston
attended West Point, graduating in 1829 as a Second Lieutenant in the Artillery.
For a while he followed the profession of Civil Engineer; and he married Lovisa
Mclane, daughter of Louis Mclane who served as Secretary of the Treasury under
President Andrew Jackson. In 1838 he returned to the army and served as fopo~
graphical engineer under Winfield Scott in Mexico. On April 20th, 1861,
Johnston resigned his commission as Brigadier General in the United States Army.
Accepting a commission from the Confederate State of Virginia, he commanded
the Army of Northern Virginia uniil he was wounded af Seven Pines. From the
fall of Vicksburg until his call to Dalton, Johnston was busy supervising the defense
of Mobile, and organizing the Army of the Mississippi. As Commander of the Army
of Tennessee, Johnston was io perform the most importani duties of his life. 3.
As we have seen, Dalton was simply a place where the army had stopped

to rest and where Bragg had left it. We must consider the organization and morale

of the army and the important services which Johnston performed in reconditioning
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and training the army at Dalton. Johnston brought with him soldierly training,
intuition and experience, proving him worthy of the confidence which he inspired
in his men. Although he was opposed by overwhelming forces, suffered due to

the folly and disobedience of subordinates and the interferences of Richmond, and
was faced with a vast geographical territory to protect, Johnston was an excellent
officer who husbanded his resources. Wary, prudent and poised, he was to show
vigor and intelligence in the campaign. The first example of this is his overhauling
of the army and his refusal to foilow foolhardy pians.

Although Bragg claimed that he had left the army in good shape, that the
moraie was not impaired, and that stragglers were pouring in rather than deserters
pouring out, an inspection showed the army to be in the worst condition imaginable. 4.
Despite the advice of Bragg, which was unfortunately heeded in most cases, the
Richmond administration realized that the army needed to be sirengthened and re-
paired. Instructions from President Davis and Secretary of War Seddon admitted that
the army was disheartened and deprived of ordnance and material. They wrote to
Johnston, “Your presence, it is hoped, will do much to re-establish hope and inspire
confidence, and through such influence, as well as by the active exertions you are
recommended to make, men who have siraggled may be recaiied to their standards,
and others roused to the dangers. 2+ " Besides admitting the deficiencies, the ad-
ministration also admitted that there would be serious difficulties in providing the
supplies required for the army's subsistence, as much materiai was simply not available.
Yet they wrote, "It is desired that your early and vigorous efforis be directed to
restoring the discipline, prestige, and confidence of the army, and to increasing its

numbers; and that at the same time you leave no means unspared to restore and supply
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its deficiencies in ordnance munitions, and transportation. 6.

Despite their recognition of the army's depleted condition, Davis and
Seddon did not believe that the army was in as bad shape as Johnston's inspection
showed. 3Seemingly, they thought that an army could be restored overnight. Thus,
they instructed Johnston o assume the offensive.

Davis said that his information ied him to believe that the condition and
efficiency of the army were safisfactory, and that the men were anxious for an
opportunity to retrieve the loss of prestige of Missionary Ridge. "l desired, there-
fore, that prompt and vigorous measures be taken to enable our froops to commence
aciive operations against the enemy as soon as possible. 7. Planning to advance
and draw the enemy into the open and defeat him, or, if he did not come out, to
move against his line of communications, Davis did not want any inactivity which
would ruin morale, give the supposedly scaftered Federals a chance to consolidate,
and allow them to send reinforcements to Virginia. According to the President,
no effort was spared to enabie Johnston fo repulse the enemy and o assume the
offensive, for Davis hoped for a quick and decisive victory. 8.

Upon receiving communications urging him fo take the offensive, Johnston
replied that the army was in no condition to resume the offensive, as it was sadly
deficient in numbers, arms, subsistence stores and field transportation. This reply
was followed by a letter from Davis which stated that all his reports said that the
army's condition was not too bad, the reports being those of Braxton Bragg, for what
they were worth. Johnston said, "I was unable then, as now, to imagine any
military object for which this letter could have been written, especially by one

whose fime was supposed to be devoted to the most importani concerns of government .
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The President could not have thought that | was to be taught the moral and
material condition of the army around me by him, by the observations of his

L

aide~de~camp, who had never seen military service~-~ Johnston then en~

deavored to depict the true conditions of the army. His effective toral was

36,000 with 43,000 present while Sherman had more than 80, 000. 10. The
artillery was insufficient, and the horses were in poor condition. ".
Meanwhile, General John B. Hood arrived to throw coals on the fire

which was already burning between Johnston and Davis. Serving with Lee in
Virginia, Hood had led the breakihrough at Second Manassas and at Gaines
Mill. Rising from Lieutenant to Lieutenant-General in two years, Hood had led
the famous Texas Brigade, although he, himself, was from Kentucky. After
recovering from a wound received in the East, Hood had fought at Chickamauga
where he lost a leg. Hood said that he took the job with the understanding that
an offensive and aggressive campaign was io be initiated; and this burning zeal
for offensive action was his prime goal, as he was littie concerned with shoes,
rifles, or horses. Actually, Hood was really sent to serve as Davis' mouthpiece,
as he was fo push Johnston forward while keeping the President informed. Violating
military protocol, Hood, as a Corps Commander, reported directly to Davis and
Bragg, although all reports should have gone through Johnston. As would be ex-
pected, Hood reporied that the army was in excellent condition, since this was
12.

what Richmond wantfed to hear.

In his Advance and Retrear, Hood spends most of his time in attacking

Johnston's tactics and bravery. Such peity arguments, however, are immaterial .

Yet Hood does admit his duplicate roll as Corps Commander and Agent from Richmond.
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He told Johnston that Bragg and Davis were desirous of taking the offensive and
that everything would be subordinated to the Army of Tennessee. No amount of
pressure, however, could sway Johnston; and on April 13th, Hood wrote to Bragg,
*| am sorry fo inform you that | have done all in my power to induce General
Johnston to accept the propesition you made to move forward. He will not con-
sent=== 13" |t is ironic that Hood also wrote Davis that more men would be
needed before the army could assume a strong offensive. "

Although he opposed the plans of Davis and Bragg to force the enemy into
the open, separate Nashville and Chattanooga, isolate Knoxville, and reclaim
the provision states of Tennessee and Kentucky, Johnsion did so because those
plans were not feasible with the army at hand. Although Bragg charged that
Johnston declined to take the offensive, he was not entirely correct, as Johnston
would have been willing to do so if he had been able. One of the officers sent
to inform Johnston of Davis' wishes reported that Johnston was perfectiy willing

15. As to his plans,

to be aggressive as soon as he had a sufficient number of men.
Johnston wrote Davis, "To assume the offense from this point, we musi move into
gither middie or east Tennessee. To the first the obstacies are: Chattanocoga, now
a fortress, the Tennessee River, the rqued desert of the Cumberland Mountains,
and an army oufnumbering ours more than two to one. The second would leave the
way open into Georgia. We have neither subsistence nor field transportation enough
for either march. 16+

For better or worse, the Army of Tennessee was to be a defensive one from

the very start of the Atlanta Campaign. This has been a much debated question,

but | believe that Johnston followed the practical and wise course. Despite the
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estimates of Bragg and Hood, Johnsion was greatly outnumbered. He was a hundred
miles from a base of supply with which he was connected by a single raiiroad.
Sherman, on the other hand, had built up a strong base of supply in Chattanooga
and, in addition, had enough men adequately to protect his railroad supply line

to Nashville and Louisville. Also, Sherman's goal was the all important city of
Atlanta and not Johnston's army, as we shall see. With his many advantages,
Sherman could have easily swept down on Atlanta if Johnston had moved from his
front. The controversy between Davis and Johnston, which started over the question
of the offensive, was to have disastrous consequences later in the campaign. At
any rate, Johnston had to fight on the defensive and did an excellent job.

Turning from the controversy over operations and plans, we must consider
the excellent job of organization which Johnston accomplished ir; the depleted
army. Giving a general pardon to all absent without leave if they would return,
Johnston strengthened and reorganized the army, instituted a furlough system and
procured supplies to remedy shoriages. 17 All the horses were sent to the Etowah
Valley to feed, and Johnston tried unsuccessfully to get Colonel E. P. Alexander
to command his artiliery. 18. The morale was improved, as the soldiers had faith
in “Old Joe", who did everything to improve their lot. The army had been depleted
by battles and desertions, with discipline disappearing. Then came Johnston with
his pardons and furloughs, rations, whiskey and tobacco twice a week, and hard
but fair punishments. The common soldier's viewpoint is given us by Sam Watkins,
who says that Johnston was loved, respected, admired, and aimost worshiped by his

19.

troops who would all have gladly died for him. A young officer wrote to his
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wife, "General Johnston seems to have infused a new spirit into the whole mass,
and out of chaos brought order and beauty . Our men are better clothed than at
any previous time, while their food is better than cne would have anticipated two
monins ago . 0.0
This was the situation of the army at Dalton. We musi remember that
Dalton had not been selected by Bragg for its value as a defensive position, but
because the retreat had merely ceased there. Johnsion said that he would have
moved back to Calhoun, as Daiton had neither inirinsic sirength nor strategic
value, but that aiter the debaie with Seddon and Davis, this might cause a bad

effect on the Southern people. 2

As to the troops at Dalton, there were three
corps affer the arrival of Hood and of General Leonidas Polk during the battle of
Dalion. Now we turn fo a consideration of the Federal Army, which was under=

going similar preparations and plans.
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Chapter 1l

Fedaral Plans and Preparations

The 3pring of 1864 opened hopefully for the Union, as Vieksburg and
Gettysburg had been great victories, the Mississippi River was under its control,
Chattanooga wos held, and the two Confederate Armies had been pushed back
into Georgla and Virginia. With Grant's promotion to Commander~in-Chief,
the way was now opened for the consolidated effori to end the war. The grand
strategy of the last year of the war was to carry the Union to victory. Asto
this strategy in the West, Sherman was to destroy the army of Joseph E. Johnston
at Dalton and move as far into the enemy’s country us necessary f6 destroy the
will to resist, as well as the means. Sherman, like Johnston, had to organize
his army and formulate his plans.

Sherman, in addition to his numerical and logistical superiority, had
another great advantage over Johnston: he enjoyed the full confidence of boih
Lincoin and Grant. As to the relations between Grant and Sherman, Pierson
sums them up as “harmony and loyalty based upon mutual respect and confidence,
the outgrowth of service together in so many campaigns, campaigns which tested

*H

resources and abilities thoroughly . Low as did Johnston, Sherman also enjoyed

the confidence of his men, who affectionately styled him "Uncle Billy". 2.
After his meeting with Grant and the receipt of his instructions, Sherman

began preparations for the consolidated push which was to begin in the Spring.

Due to Johnston's decision to remain on the defensive, there was ample opportunity

for Sherman leisurely and deliberately to make the fullest preparations. Sherman
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said, “After my return to Nashviile | addressed myself to the task of organization
and preparations, which involved the general security of the vast region of the
south already conquered, more especially the several routes of supply and com-
munication with the active armies at the front, and to organize a large army

o move into Georgia, coincident with the advance of the Eastern Armies against
Richmond. °* * Despite diitferences in size, the three armies were put on equal
footing as to the requisition of supplies and fransportation. According to
Sherman, the great question of the campaign was one of supply, so Sherman took
all possible measures to proteci his route of supply, which ran along the Western
and Atlantic Railroad from Chattanooga to Nashvilie to Louisville. Sherman
requisitioned ali the railroads, placing all under army control and allowing no
one to travel except by orders. Alrthough the civilians protested greatly, Sherman
wrote Lincoln that he could noi and would not do otherwise. Before the opening
of the campaign, the enginecrs prepared railroad bridges and trusses to be used
during the advance. Constantly, Sherman was visiting his army commanders

to assure that all would be ready. 4.

Sherman's forces consisted of three armies: The Army of the Cumberland
under General George H. Thomas (60,000 men); The Army of the Tennessee under
General James B. McPherson (25, 000 men); and The Army of the Ohio under
General John M. Schofield (15,000 men). In addition, he had his cavalry under
Generals George Stoneman and Kenner Garrard. Thus, Sherman had an army
of 100,000 men opposing Johnsion's army of 43,000 men. Also, Sherman had
sufficient numbers fo protect his vital route of supply. 5.

Intending to open the campaign on May 1si, by moving Schofield from
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Cleveland, Thomas from Chattancoga, and McPherson against the railroad

below Resaca, Sherman stated, "l had no purpose to attack Johnston's position at
Dalton in front, but to march from Chattanooga, to feign at his front and to make
lodgement in Resaca, eighteen miles to his rear on his line of communication and

64 Sherman already realized that Johnston would be compelied to hang

supply .
on to the railroad which was his only possible avenue of supply . This was to be
the strategy of the campaign to Atlanta.

With his numerical superiority, Sherman would hold Johnston with a
part of his force while sending the remainder in a flanking movement which would
threaten Johnston's supply line and force him to fall back to his next line of
entrenchments. Although entrenchments were heavily relied upon by both sides,
this would be a war of movement with the railroad as the center of attraction for
both sides. Only at Kennesaw did Sherman deviate from his basic plan. As
General Cox said, "The days for brilliant detached campaigns, such as Jackson
had made in Virginia, were over. Lee, as well as Johnston, settled down to
patient defensive operations behind carefully constructed earthworks, watching for
some slip in the strategy of the Federal commanders which might give hope of
success to aggressive return blows by their smaller forces. 7.

This set the stage for the decisive campaign of 1864 in Georgia. Before
considering the actual military occurrences of this compaign, we should examine

Sherman's actual objective. Atlanta, aithough not the capital of the Confederacy,

was perhaps its most important city.
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Chapter 1l

The Importance of Atlanta

Although the stated objective of both Sherman and Grant was the army
of Joseph E. Johnston, actually the real objective, as viewed by both Federal and
Confederate administrations, was the City of Atlanta. The fall of Vicksburg in
1863 and the control of the Mississippi River by the Federal gunboats had cut off
the states west of the river. The possession of Atlanta by the Federals would give
them Georgia, Alabama and Mississippi. They already had Kentucky, Tennessee,
Missouri, Arkansas and Texas; and if Atlanta were lost, nine states would thus be
conquered and reduced, leaving only the two Carolinas and Virginia. 1. Therefore,
the possession of Atlanta was a question of life and death to the Confederacy .

Also, Georgia was now the chief granary and main military workshop, with
Atlanta as the center of a network of manufacturing cities and villages such as
Rome, Roswell and Marietta. "“"Georgia was the keystone of the Confederate arch
whose firm northern butiress was Virginia. 2.4 From these factorles the Southern
Armies were drawing all the paraphernalia of war: powder, shot, shells, caps,
cannon, small arms, clothing and equipment, wagons, etc. The vast grain growing
prairie in central Georgia was furnishing both Confederate Armies. Sherman was
acutely aware of all this, as he had obtained and analyzed census and taxation
returns to calculate the population and resources of every county in Georgia.

Atlanta was the machine shop of the Confederacy, next in importance to the
Tredegar works at Richmond; and it was the receiving and distributing center for

supplies for both Confederate Armies. Machinery and goods of all kinds came through
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the blockade to Atlanta, where the machinery was set up. Colonel Wright com-
manded the large and weli-stocked arsenal which had to carry a bigger and big-
ger load as the war went on. The arsenal produced 25, 000 rounds of small arms
ammunition and about 150 rounds of field ammunition per day, as well as 20, 000
pounds of lead per month. 4. Besides supplying the Army of Tennessee, the
arsenal was sending much material to Virginia immediately preceding the fall of
Atlanta. 9+

In addition to the arsenal, Atlanta contained other important manufacturing
works. In 1862, the Government placed a pistol factory in Atlanta in the block
bounded by Piedmont Avenue, the Georgia Railroad, Butier and Hunter Streets.
As no models were available, this factory made machines and pistols from drawings.
J. H. Burr, an Englishman, and E. N. Spiller, a German expert in gun work, were
in charge of this factory. The Novelty Iron Works, at Marietta and Bartow Streets,
handled government contracts for work on ordnance supplies of all kinds. The
Confederate Rolling Mill, located at the site of the present Fulton Bag and Cotton
Mills, made cannon, armor plate, and rails. Reputedly, the Merrimac was sheathed
in plate made at this mill. 6. Manufacturing of railroad cars and bar iron was done
by the Empire Manufacturing Company, while the foundry of Soloman and Company
made the buttons, spurs, bridles, bits, and buckles for the army. Thus, we see that
there were many factories in Atlanta in addition to the arsenal at Walton and Broad
Streets. Also, there were important recruiting camps, remount depots, commissary
supply depots, tanneries and other works. These many manufacturing and storage
concerns made Atlanta the base for the Army of Tennessee and the secondary base

for the Army of Northern Virginia. 7.
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In addition, Atlanta was of the uimost importance as a railroad center
which joined the Confederacy together. The story of the Confederate raiiroads is
a story in itself-=with the different gauges, poor time schedules, and the tragedy
of the reluctant Government which too late tried to harness the railroads. We must,
however, briefly consider the importance of the rail network entering Atlanta, for
this was another reason why Atlanta was Sherman's primary objective.

This decisive campaign had a railroad background from the very beginning,
as the Western and Atlantic became the supply line for both armies and remained
so until the fall of Atlanta. Even before the initial movements, Southern pickets
looked out over the tracks from their positions on Tunnel Hill. Actually, the
railroad was all important to both armies, as Sherman advanced along it while
Johnston was forced to fall back every time Sherman's flanking movements threatened
this vital supply line. As Johnston retreated, he tore up the tracks which were quickly
repaired by the Federal railroad crew. As General O. O. Howard stated, “The
rapidity with which the badly broken railroad was repaired seemed miraculous. 8.n
On reaching the vicinity of Atlanta, Sherman's prime objective became the destruction
of the railroads, for this would force the evacuation of Atlanta. Besides the Western
and Atlantic, there were three other main railroads which passed through Atlanta.
The Georgia Railroad provided the best interior communication for the Confederacy,
while the Atlanta, Montgomery and West Point Railroad provided o connection for
bringing in the grain of Alabama and munitions from the factories at Selma. The
Macon and Western Railroad provided communication to the grain and factories of

south Georgia. Originally known as "Terminus”, due to the convergence of its
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railroads, Atlanta was the center of travel for men and equipment to all parts
of the Confederacy. If Sherman could cut these lines of communication and sup-
ply, he would greatly weaken the ability of the South to resist. 7.

Finally, Atlanta was an important objective as it had become a symbol
in the North just as had Richmond. Although the South had suffered disastrous
defeats at Gettysburg and Vicksburg, she still had armies in the field with the
will to win. Atlanta was important to both sides politically, as the election of
1864 was approaching in the North. The holding of Atlanta was almost a neces-
sity for a Democratic victory in the North. Sherman realized this, and said after
the capture of Atlanta that the victory had been very opportune for the politics
and election of Lincoln, as the fall of Atlanta had become a political necessity. 10.
If this were true in the North, then the reverse would be even truer in the South,
as the holding of Atlanta would, in addition to providing badly needed material,
provide a stimuius for continued fighting. Sherman aiso realized this, as he said,
"I knew that the people of the South would realize in this measure (the fall and
resulting occupation and destruction of Atlanta) two important conclusions: one,
that we were in earnest; and the other, if they were sincere in their common and
popular clamor ‘to die in the last ditch' that the opportunity would soon come. 1.
Thus, Arlanta was a symbol to the South as Stalingraad was to Russia in World War
Twe.

The political importance of Atlanta in the North was reflected in Harpers
M, which stated editorially, “There is not a man who did not feel that McClellan's

chances were diminished by the glad tidings from Atlanta; nor any one who does not
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know that if Sherman had been defeated. the friends of the Chicago candidate

2.4 1 went on to say that "Sherman has

would have felt surer of his success.
done more, in his capture of Atlanta, for a cessation of hostilities than
Vallandigham and his convention could do in twelve months of abuse of the ad-

ministration and of the war. 13.

" The capture of Atlanta assured Lincoln's

election as it assured the North that the war could now be carried to a completion.
Thus, Atlanta was most important for the North to take and for the South

to retain. The "Gate City of the South” was exactly that, as it was a railroad

and communications center, a manufacturing and produce center, and an ideslogi-

cal focus for both sides. For these reasons, Atlanta, not the army of Joseph E.

Johnston, was the primary objective of General Sherman. This can be clearly

seen in his plans and military operations. On the other hand, although Johnston

fully intended to defend Atlanta, his primary objective was the preservation of

his army. We now turn to o consideration of the military occurrences which brought
Y ry g

Sherman to the gates of the "Gate City”.
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Chapter IV

*Old Joe knows what he's up to”

The time had now come for Sherman to move against Johnston's army, to
break it up, and to penetrate the interior of the country as far as possible in order
to destroy its resources. More particularly, the time had come for Sherman to
attempt to take the all important citadel of Atlanta. His tactics would be simple.
He would move in three columns, using the center one to engage Johnston while
either flanking column would be sent around Johnston af every opportunity to
threaten the railroads. Occupying every ridge, mountain pass and ford, Johnston
would always repulse the enemy in his front but would be forced to retreat to
positions previously selected and prepared each time his flank was turned, as turned
it must be. Johnston's principal aims, besides the defeat of Sherman, were to pro-
tect his railroad and to maintain an "army in being V-4, The events of the Atlanta
Campaign from Dalfon to Atlanta show that both commanders relied on these basic
tactics, and that both of them did an excellent job in carrying out iheir respeciive
plans.

The Union operations for the grand strategy of the last year of the war actually
went into effect on May 2nd, 1864, when the Federal cavalry drove the Confederate
pickets from Ringgold Gap back to Tunnel Hill. Firmly entrenched in the mountains,
Johnston's main force was deployed along the crest of Rocky Face Ridge. At the
opening of the campaign, the Army of Tennessee consisted of two corps: Hardee's
Corps containing the divisions of Generals B. F. Cheatham, W. H. T. Walker, Pat

R. Cleburne, and W. B. Bate ; and Hood's Corps composed of the divisions of Generals
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T. C. Hindman, C. L. Stevenson and A. P. Stewart. 2. General Joseph Wheeler's
cavalry was posted along Tunnel Hill with pickets extending to the Cleveland road.
Although only half the size of the Federal Army at this time, the Army of Tennessee
opened ifs resistance as a well frained force, with high morale and excellent leader-
ship in most insfances. 3. General Leonidas Polk, in anticipation of Sherman's
advance and despite the orders of Bragg, had placed the divisions of 5. G. French
and W. W, Loring in North Alabama, ready to aid Johnston. These itwo divisions,
along with that of General Canty and W. H. Jackson’s cavalry, would form Polk's
Corps. 4.
On May 5th, the Army of Tennessee was formed from Mill Creek Gap across
Dalton to the Cleveland Road, while the Federal Army was formed in line of battle
ready to advance. On May 7th, the Army of the Ohio under Schofield and the Army
of the Cumberiand under Thomas began their consolidated advance on the Confederate
entrenchments. Enjoying the advantage of terrain and prepared positions, Johnston's
army successfully repelied every attack on its front for the next five days. The most
serious attack was that by General Hooker at Dug Gap on the 8th, but Hardee per-
sonaily brought up reinforcements which halted the Federals. 3.
The key to the Battle of Daiton was Snake Creek Gap which runs between the
mountain ridges, coming in on the Western and Atlantic below Resaca. As we have
seen, Sherman had no intention of launching a full scale attack on Johnston's strong
front. Before the opening of the campaign, General Thomas called Sherman's ai-

tention to this Gap which provided an excellent means for turning the position at

Dalton; and Sherman had decided to send McPherson and the Army of the Tennessee
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through the gap to seize Resaca while a still superior army pressed Johnston's
front, ready to follow the moment Dalton was abandoned. Due to the lack of
accurate maps and gooed staff work, Johnston was either ignorant of the possibili~
ties of Snake Creek Gap or did not believe that a large army could successfully
move through if. At any rate, McPherson found the gap unguarded, as Johnston
believed himself secure at Dalton. 6

Accompanied by Kilpatrick's cavaliry division, McPherson marched through
Snake Creek Gap on May 7th, arriving at Resaca without opposition. Defended
by two brigades of Canty's Division, Resaca was strongly entrenched in a iriangle
formed by the Qostanaula and Connasauga Rivers and Camp Creek. Convinced by
his reconnaissance that he could not carry the town by assauit, McPherson retired
to the mouth of the gap fo keep the way open for the whole army, reporting the
situation to Sherman. Feeling that McPherson had lost o great opportunity, Sherman
believed that McPherson with 23, 000 good men could have easily taken Resaca
and thai Johnston would probably have had to retreat eastward, iosing half of his
army and all of his artillery at the ouiset of the campaign. '3Such an opportunity
does not oceur twice in a single life, but at the critical moment McPherson seems

¥

to have been a little timid. 7. Becoming aware of McPherson's presence on the
i0th, Johnston sent Hoed with Walker's, Hindman's and Cleburne's divisions to
Resaca. "At night Brigadier-General Canty reported that he had been engaged at
Resaca with the troops of the Army of the Tennessee and had held his ground. As

intelligence of the arrival of that army in Snake Creek Gap had been received, Lt.-

General Hood was ordered to move fo Resaca immediately with three divisions. 8.u
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Hood and Hindman, however, were recalled the next day, as McPherson was
not pressing the attack and as General Polk had arrived at Resaca with Loring's
division.

Sherman now planned fo move his whole army through the gap, as Rocky
Face Ridge provided an excellent shield and as Johnsion's army was unassailable
in its positions at Dalton. On the 11th, orders were issued for a general movement
the next day, and on the 12th, Thomas and Schofield moved to join McPherson.
Learning of the concentration at that place, Johnston evacuated Dalton during
the night of the 12th and concentrated his forces in front of Sherman at Rasaca.
Flanked by Sherman's successful movement, Johnston was forced to abandon his
impregnable lines about Dalton and to conduct the first of o series of sirategic re~
freats. 10.

At Resaca, Johnston entrenched with Polk's Corps on the left resting on
the Qostanaula, Hardee in the center, and Hood on the right with his right flank
on the Connasauga. On the 13th, 14th and 15th the Battie of Resaca was fought
with first one side, then the other making an attack. Again Johnston enjoyed the
advantages of terrain and prepared positions which offset Sherman's numerical
superiority . Although utilizing these positions, Johnston had a river at his back
which would facilitate an invesiment by the enemy. Utilizing his strength, Sherman
planned to coniract his lines as much as possible in order to withdraw a sufficient
force for another flanking movement beyond the Oostanaula. During the night of

the 15th, Johnston was forced to retire south of the river, burning the railroad

bridge behind him; and the next morning Sherman entered the town. 1. His numbers
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swelied by Polk's arrival, Johnston had 67,000 men af Resaca while Sherman

had about 104,000, '2* As to the losses in the bloody battle at Resaca, Sherman

states that there were 2,800 Confederate losses and 2,747 Faderal; but the con~

sansus is that the Confederate losses were many less than Sherman reports. 13
Johnston has been criticized for withdrawing from the sirong positions at

Daiton and Resaca, and for failing fo notice and fortify Snake Creek Gap. As

io the laiter, Johnston suffered due to poor staff work and inadequate maps,

thinking that any flanking movement by Sherman would involve a longer and

more arduous detour. Also, Johnston states that he knew how long it would take

a force to move through the gap and that the strength at Resaca shows that he was

prepared to defend against such a move even though he was unaware of McPherson's

presence of the 11th. 14+ Also, Johnston simply did not have the men to defend

every gap and pass and at the same time maintain a sivong front. Actually, the

couniry of North Georgia around Dalton and Resaca is not as strong as Davis

asserted; and the only real mountain is Rocky Face Ridge, which aided Sherman

more than Johnston by providing o screen. 13. Snake Creek Gap is not as nar-

row and easily defended as most writers have maintained. The slopes bounding

the gap are gradua! and open fo a strong attack. Today a four lane superhighway

is being constructed through the gap. If Johnston had tried to defend this areq,

Sherman with his superior force could have taken the gap and possibly could have

routed Johnston. Nevertheless, the fact remains that Johnston was deceived as

to Sherman's purpose, for he expected Sherman to attack with his whole force

at Dalton. 18+ Sherman deceived Johnston by conducting a well-thought-out
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operation of tactics rather than combat.

As to the retreat from Dalton and Resaca, Johnsten had no choice, as
in both instances he was in danger of being surrounded and of losing the army.
Sherman commented, "That Johnston deliberately designed in advance to give
up such strong positions at Dalton and Resaca, for the purpose of drawing us
farther south, is simply obsurd. Had he remained in Dalton another hour, it would
have been his total defeat, and he only evacuated Resaca because his safety
demanded it. 17+ " Sherman also states that his army wos double the size of
Johnston's, and that the movement through the gap had been a complete surprise.
The danger which threatened Johnston's line of communication and supply made
the continued occupation of both Dalton and Resaca hazardous. In his Narrative

of Military Operations, Johnsion says that he was dislodged from his first position

in front of Dalton by Sherman's movement through Snake Creek Gap, threatening
his line of communication af Resaca. and from his second position at Resaca by

a similar Fedaral movement toward Calhoun, the second being covered by the
river as the first had been by the mountain. In both cases, Sherman's numerical
superiority enobled him, with little risk, to make use of the features of the ter-

18.

rain which favored such maneuvers. “My own operations, then and subsequently,
were determined by the relative forces of the armies, and a higher estimate of
the Northern soldiers than our Southern editors and politicians were accustomed

17. Thus, Johnston

to express or even the administration seemed to entertain.
could do nothing else but abandon these two sirong positions if he was to maintain

his army and keep it between Sherman and Atlanta. Although the Army of Tennessee
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had been forced to retreat, it inflicted many more casualties than it received.
Retreating south of Resaca, the Army of Tennessee entered more open
country which forced Johnston to seek a narrow valley or some other strong posi-
tion, as he was determined not to risk a general engagement in a field where
Sherman could maneuver against his flanks. Hoping but failing to find a good
position near Calhoun which would cover all roads leading southward, Johnston
was forced to move on to Adairsville, and then to Cassville before finding a
position suitable for defense against superior numbers. Johnston divided his
forces at Adairsville, with Polk and Hood marching to Cassville while Hardee
moved to Kingston, leaving Sherman the impression that the main force had
moved to Kingston. By misieading Sherman and dividing the enemy forces,
Johnston hoped to deliver a decisive blow on a part of Sherman's army, then
move to defeat the other part. Following on Johnston's heels, Sherman was
deceived, as he believed Johnston to be in Kingston, while Hardee had moved
on through Kingston and back to Cassville to rejoin the rest of the army. Sherman
wanted a fight, and Johnston was ready to give him one. Hood and Polk were
ordered to advance on the 18th, to overwhelm Schofield before the center and
right of Sherman's army arrived. The result of these well-conceived plans was
another might-have-been for the Army of Tennessee, as General Hood moved
out only to find enemy troops on the Canton Road where none were expected; and
without notifying Johnston, Hood retreated instead of attacking. Actually, Hood
had encountered a part of Butterfield's Division which had blundered onto the

20.

wrong road and was lost. Thus, the well-iaid plans of men went astray.

~ Page 23. -



In his Advance and Retreat Hood states that Johnston refused to attack

Sherman at Cassville, and that he himself requested to be allowed to attack, but
that he was hit from an unexpected direction and that Johnston ordered him to
rejoin Polk. He also states that he had been enfiladed by the column on the
Canton Road, and that Johnsion was incorrect in his statement that the report of
the enemy was untrue. 2. Definitely Hood had encountered the enemy, but

he had encountered a confused and lost division which could have been swept back
in an assault. Despite his defense of himself, Hood had blundered and had lost

the advantage which Johnston had gained through strategic maneuvering.

Johnston has been accused of refusing to fight, but the failure on the 18th
was Hood's, not Johnston's. Despite this failure, Johnston was determined to fight
a decisive engagement at Cassville. On the 19th, he issued a general order that
the retreat had gone as far as necessary for strategic purposes, and that the time
had come to give battle. However, on holding a conference with Polk and Hood,
Johnston learned that they could not hold their positions, as they were under
enfilade fire from the artillery of the Federal Army. Although he did not believe
this fire to be effective, and although General Hardee stated that he could hold
his position, Johnston decided to take the advice of his subordinates and retreat . 22,
General Hood attempted to prove his reasons for retreat by citing the report of
Captain Walter J. Morris, Chief Engineer of Polk's Corps, who had inspected the
positions and found them untenable . 43. Johnston, on the other hand, thought that
the proposed battle would have been successful, and that a retreat was not in order.

On the morning of the 20th, Sherman found that the Confederate Army had crossed
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the Etowah and had moved southward again. He found in Cassville every indi-
cation that Johnston had intended to make a stand, and he also found newspapers

24. | the Southern papers were disappointed,

criticizing Johnston for retreating.
Sherman was even more disappointed, as he was eager for a battle in compara=
tively open country. Cox sums up the events at Cassville appropriately. "The
only thing that is certain in the matter is that their (Confederate leaders) dissen-
sions prolonged the campaign by postponing the decisive engagement, as o the

result of which Sherman was justly confident. 29+ " Both Sherman and Johnston

wanted to fight, and both would have the opportunity soon.
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Chapter V

From the Etowah Across the Chattahoochee

Allowing the army a brief rest in order for its supplies to catch up with
it, Sherman was preparing fo cross the Etowah River and continue the march for
Atlanta. Having been over this country in 1844 as a young lieutenant, he knew
that Allatoona Pass was too strong to assauit; he planned, therefore, to move to
Marietta via Dallas, a movement designed to make Johnston give up Allatoona
so that Sherman could extend his lines back to the railroad which he would have
to leave briefly in maneuvering toward Dallas. 1+ Dallas, which lay south of
Kingston and west of Marietta, was important in that it was the hub of all the
main roads in the area. On May 22nd, Sherman ordered the move to begin. On
the 23rd, Johnston ordered Hardee to Dallas via New Hope Church, while Polk
was to move in the same direction but to the south of Dallas. However, Johnston
was not sure of Sherman's move on the 23rd. On the 24th, Wheeler pushed inio
Cassville with his cavalry, capturing many prisoners and supply wagons, and
learning of Sherman's march toward Dallas. Jackson's cavalry also reported Sherman
to be moving on Dallas, so Hood was ordered to follow Hardee. 2.

Being forewarned of Sherman's movement, Johnston was able to reach the
vicinity of Dallas and to prepare his usual sirong defensive positions. His lines
were admirably chosen, as they lay along a series of wooded ridges with open val-
ieys in front of each ridge. Hood was on the right with his center at New Hope
Church covering the road from Dallas to Ackworth. Polk was in the center giving

close support to Hood, while Hardee was on the right, covering the Stilesboro,
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Dailas and Atlanta Road. With the addition of Polk’s complete corps (Quarles'
Division) and the Georgia Militia, who were used to cover the railroad line,
Johnston was stronger than at any time in the campaign. He had been constantly
picking up detachments while Sherman had been sending out new ones, and his
army was ready to beat the Yanks. Dallas, New Hope Church and Picketts Mill
would give them ample opportunity . 3.

The Battle of New Hope Church was initiated on May 25th by Geary's
Division of Hooker's Corps and Stewart's Division of Hood's Corps. Fighting so
fiercely that Hooker believed he was opposed by the entire Confederate Army,
Stewart's men succeeded in halting the Federal advance and in causing Hooker's
entire corps to deploy. Again and again Hooker's columns assaulted Hood's posi-
tion, only to be repulsed bloodily each time by the men in Gray behind log bar-
ricades protected by well posted artillery. 4. 350 great was the slaughter that the
place became known as Hooker's "Hell Hole" 5. From 5:00 P. M. until 8:00 P, M.
Stewart's Division whipped Hooker's entire corps; and, when asked if he needed
reinforcements, Stewart replied, "My own troops will hold the position. 6.n

From May 25th to June 4th, vigorous attacks and counterattacks occurred
daily in the vicinity of Dallas and New Hope Church. On the morning of the
26th, Sherman began extending his lines to his left toward Ackworth, as skirmishing
fights ranged along the entire line all day. On the 27th, General O. O. Howard
tried to turn Hardee's flank only to be stopped by Cleburne. On the 28th, General
Hood launched an attack, but he too was repuised, much to Johnston's disgust. A

typical attack in this area is depicted by W. R. Cambell, of the Fourth Louisiana
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Regiment of Cleburne's Division. In speaking of an aftack they made against part
of Howard's Corps, Cambell writes, "We advanced across a field some three hun-
dred yards, then into a thicket of undergrowth, and from that into a dense skirt of
woods, when a perfect hailstorm of bullets cut through the limbs over our heads.
Suddenly the firing ceased. We passed the cavalry pickets and very socon we struck
the Yankee line which lay in ambush behind a hedgerow. They rose and poured a
crashing volley into our faces at not more than fifteen paces; but, strange to say,
they shot high and did very little damage. We returned the fire and charged,
advancing with a yell up the hill 7+ Cambell and his compatriots managed to
take the hill they assauited so bravely. In his account we see both the lay of the
land and the seesawing attacks as both armies fought for advantageous positions.

Realizing that Johnston's positions were too strong to be taken by a
direct assault, as was always the case, Sherman continued to extend to his left
toward the all important railroad. For several days, Johnston was correspondingly
able to extend his own lines; but soon he had to submit to Sherman's numerical
advantage. Having extended beyond Johnston's right and having seized and secured
Allatoona Creek from its mouth to Ackworth, Sherman was ready to push forward,
with Allatoona as a new base, and sirike a new and heavy blow. Much to his chagrin,
however, he found that Johnston had abandoned his works on the night of June 4th,
and had fallen back to a new and equally stro;mg line along Mud Creek. 8.

One significant outcome of the fighting around New Hope Church was that
both armies became convinced of the advantages of having breastworks. The

numerous remains of breastworks around Atlanta today will attest that such works
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were used extensively by both sides for the remainder of the campaign. "“The
Rebels must carry their breastworks with them while Sherman's men march with

a rifle in one hand and a spade in the other. 7.4 According to Howard, no regi-
ment was long in front of Johnston's army without having almost as good fortifi-
cations as an engineer could plan and build. 10. Johnsion claims that Sherman
exaggerated the idea of his field works and that Sherman's were actually better,

as the Army of Tennessee had inadequate entrenching tools. ' ° This does not
hold true, however, as Johnston's works were prepared well ghead of time, be-
fore the army arrived, by the Georgia Militia and impressed Negroes. 12. 1,

the North, besides the obvious protection offered, these enirenchments gave a
supplementary advantage fo the rifled arms which they possessed in numbers much
superior to the South. Protected by entrenchments, the Yankees could deliver

a devasting fire from a distance beyond the effective range of unrifled pisces.

To the South, the entrenchments abeited the naturai sirength of the country as they
heiped to offset the deficiency in numbers.

On his withdrawal from New Hope Church on the night of the 4th, Johnsion
retreated to previously prepared entrenchments along Kenesaw Mountain, Pine
Mountain and Lost Mountain. This retreat, like previous ones, had been neces-
sitated by Sherman’s usual flanking movemeni. Also, like previous refreats, it was
carried out in good order without the loss of any equipment. As to the losses of men
during the month of May, Sherman estimated his at 7, 279 while Johnston placed

his at 5, 393, although Sherman placed them at 8,638, as he said Johnston did not

count the prisoners taken. At any rate, Johnston inflicted more losses than he
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suffered, but proportionally he lost more than he could afford. 13.

Although never a day passed without skirmishing and fighting, June 5th
through June 9th was spent by Sherman in consolidating and bringing up supplies,
while Johnston was doing likewise. A steady rain had been falling for several
days, turning the roads to mud and mire and greatly hindering movement and
observation. On June 10th, the whole Federal Army moved forward, feeling for
the enemy who was believed to have moved back to the Chattahoochee River.
Much to his surprise, McPherson found the Confederates occupying Brush Moun-
tain in force, while Stoneman's cavaliry discovered entrenchments around Lost
Mountain. Observing the Federal movements, Johnston concentrated between
Gilgal and Brush Mountain, with Hardee at Gilgal Church and Bate's Division
atop Pine Mountain. By now the roads were impassable and the weather was
cold, disappointing the Yanks who looked forward to entering the "sunny south” .
However, the weather cleared slightly on the 14th, and Sherman ordered the
artillery to open fire and the skirmish lines to be advanced. 14.

At the suggestion of General Hardee, who feared that Bate's Division
would be cut off, Johnston and Polk had joined Hardee in an inspection of the
lines on the 14th. Although the men warned the generals not to expose them-
selves, they rode along the top of Pine Mountain which offered an excellent view
of both lines. It was then that Sherman's artillery cut loose and caused the com-
manders to scatter. However, General Polk, who often exposed himself unnecessarily,
walked slowly back in order to catch o last look at the field. A cannon ball passed

completely through his body, and the brave spiritual and temporal leader feil.
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According to one of his soldiers, 'The fatal missile of death deprived us of
a hero in whom the administration and country reposed entire confidence. In
him the troops of Tennessee lost their best friend and the whole country one of
its ablest commanders. 13+ " The brother of former President James Knox Pol k,
Leonidas Polk had been o Bishop in the Episcopal Church and had founded the
University of the South. He had been with the Army of Tennessee from the
first, and he was loved and respected by all~~both officers and men. A good
man and a good soldier, Polk had played peacemaker in the dispute between
Johnston, Hood and Davis. This was indeed a severe loss to the South. 16.

During the night of the 14th, Pine Mountain was abandoned and General
Bate placed in reserve, and on the 15th Thomas extended his line beyond the
mountain. Johnston was driven back to Gilgal Church and then to Mud Creek
as Sherman continued to push his entire force forward and as Johnston was
unable to spread his forces too thin. Continuous charging and countercharging
pushed Johnston closer to his Kenesaw line. On the night of the 20th, Hood
was shifted from the right to the left flank, and the next day he signified his pre-
sence by an assault against Hooker's Corps. Although unsuccessful because of the
extended Federal lines, the attack was well planned and executed. Hooker re-
ported to Sherman that he was attacked by three corps, and Sherman was forced
to remind him that three corps constituted the entire opposing army. 17.

Now Johnsion had fallen back to his Kenesaw line with its retired and
wali-anchored flanks which discouraged envelopment. Believing that Johnston

could not strongly fortify a ten mile line with 60,000 men, Sherman decided on a
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frontal attack instead of the usual flanking movement. Sherman wrote Halleck,
"The whole country is one vast fort, and Johnston must have full fifty miles of

18. .

connected frenches, with abates and finished batteries. If this were even
partly true, Sherman would have difficulty in flanking Johnston. Also, a
flanking movement would require an accumulation of supplies; and the rain and
guerrilla activity against the now extended supply line made this impossible at
the time. Sometimes an impregnable position causes a careless security in
defenders who feel safe, as Lookout Mountain had proved. Finally, Sherman
felt that a sudden attack on Johnston's center might prove successful and catch
Johnston napping, since he had become accustomed to flanking movements during
the entire campaign. 19 Therefore, Sherman decided on a bold effort to break
the lines in front of him. His only other choice was to wait, and that would
prove demoralizing to his men and give Johnston a chance to build even stronger. 20.
Sherman fixed upon Monday morning, June 27th, as the day for the general
advance against Kenesaw Mountain, which is some two and a half miles long, rising
seven hundred feet above the surrounding country at its highest point. Thomas was
to attack in the center, Schofield on the extreme right, and McPherson on the
left against Little Kenesaw. Each commander was to pick a position to attack which
would seem to offer the greatest possibility of success. Covered by a continuous
artillery fire, the three separate columns made heroic assaults to no avail. Thomas'
aftack against Cleburne exemplifies the entire Battle of Kenesaw Mountain. The

battle of "Dead Angle"” was a bloody one for the Yanks. "Here the formation

necessarily lost its order in struggling through and over the trunks and interlaced
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branches of felled forest trees, and the concentrated fire of infantry and artillery
became too hot for endurance. The advance was checked-~~and hundreds of

brave men and valuable officers fell on every side. 21" The slaughter of this
engagement resulted in a heroic act of bravery. Colonel W. H. Martin of the
First Arkansas Regiment of Cleburne’s Division, disregarding the possibility of
death, stopped the firing in order to allow the Yankees to remove their wounded
from the burning woods. A Federal major presented him with a fine brace of
pistols during the imposed lull. 2. At every point, the Federals were severely
repulsed, and even Sherman admitted 3,000 men lost to only 650 Confederates. 23.

Kenesow Mountain was not Missionary Ridge, and the Southern soldiers
were fighting with a different spirit under Johnston than they had under Bragg.
"Our losses in this assault were heavy indeed, and our gain was nothing 24 *,
Sherman admitted. Obviously, well manned and prepared entrenchments could
not be attacked head-on. Sherman gambled and lost by his own admission, but
he was far from being out of the game.

Sherman resumed the plan for the flank operation and prepared to send
McPherson by the right flank, as the rains were over and movement was becoming
more practicable. Meanwhile, the observant Johnston was busy fortifying a line
north of the Chattahoochee. Also, work was being done in Atlanta where the
existing fortifications were strengthened and extended in case the Chattahoochee
line should be broken. 29

McPherson's flanking movement forced Johnston to fall back from Kenesaw

on the night of July 2nd with Sherman hot on his heels. Sherman hoped to caich
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Johnston in crossing the river and was surprised to find that he had prepared
strong positions on the near bank. 26. Remembering the recent lesson he had
been taught, Sherman paused when he saw the preparations to resist his crossing.
However, he was not prepared to stop. "l knew that Johnston would not re~
main long on the west bank of the Chattahoochee, for | could easily practice
on that ground to betier advantage our famous tactics of intrenching in his

front, and with the rest of the army, cross the river and threaten either his rear
or the city of Atlanta itself, which city was of vital importance to the existence
not only of his own army, but of the Confederacy itself. Z. " On the 7th,
Sherman sent General Schofield in person on a reconnaissance of the river
between Paces Ferry and Roswell; and, as a result of Schofield's report, he de~
cided to make a crossing near the mouth of Scap Creek. The ford was unde~
fended and the crossing a complete surprise on July 9th. Sherman said, "l have
always thought Johnston neglected his opportunity there, for he had lain com-
paratively idle while we got control of both banks of the river above him. 8.
Johnston defended himself by saying that there were too many fords in the river

29. Although the river must have been swollen from the recent

to stop a crossing.
rains, this is true. Also, Sherman could have gone downstream as well as up in
seeking o successful crossing. On the night of the ?th, Johnston withdrew across
the river.

Sherman could continue his advance by one of two routes. The shortest

would be to approach Atlanta from the southeast to seize the Macon and Montgomery

Railroads near East Point. This, however, would leave his rear open to cavalry
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attack. The surer although longer route would be to attack Atlanta on the
northeast side in the vicinity of Decatur. On the 17th, the general movement
on Atlanta began with Thomas crossing the Chattahoochee at Paces and Powers
Ferry, Schofield moving toward Cross Keys, and McPherson toward Stone
Mountain. Sherman knew that this movement would split his army, but he was
confident that the unflinching Thomas, with nearly 50,000 in the Army of the
Cumberland, could hold the entire Confederate Army at bay until the move-
ment should be completed. The wily Johnsion figured that Sherman would divide
his forces, and he planned to attack with a superior force the moving and ex-
posed column. However, he was not to deliver battle upon the ground he had

selected. 30.
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Chapter VI

A Fatal Mistake

“Lieutenant~-General J. B. Hood has been commissioned to the
temporary rank of General under the late law of Congress. | am directed by
the Secretary of War to inform you that, as you have failed to arrest the ad-
vance of the enemy to the vicinity of Atlanta, far in the interior of Georgia,
and express no confidence that you can defeat or repel him, you are hereby
relieved from the command of the Army and Department of Tennessee, which
you will immediately turn over to General Hood. 5. Cooper, Adjutant and
Inspector General . 1ov At 10:00 P. M. on the night of July 17th, Johnston
received this fateful telegram.

During the reorganization of the army before the opening of the cam-
paign, we saw the beginning of the dispute between Johnston and the administra-
tion. Actually, the dispute between Johnston and Davis began before the war
at West Point where the two men engaged in a fist fight over a young belle, o
fight which Johnston won. Later Davis, as Secretary of War, held up Johnston's
promotion. Even their wives got into the act, as Mrs. Davis resented the more
prominent social position held by Mrs. Johnston in Washington. 2. Both men
were the sons of Revolutionary War soldiers, and both had been brought up as
soldiers with fearless devotion to duty and self-sacrifice. As Quartermaster
General in the United States Army, Johnston should have been the ranking

General in the Confederate Army, but Davis considered him as a staff officer
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and said that he had left the Union Army to join the Army of Virginia and that
Lee outranked him in that army. Early in 1861, the two men differed on general
policy, as Davis wanted to defend with fortified positions while Johnston wanted
to move around with concentrated armies. Davis, who always considered him-
self more competent for military command than for civil administration, had his
own ideas of what constituted a good military leader. Toward his friends, like
Bragg, Davis maintained an unreasoning loyalty and, toward his enemies, a
stubbornness to forgive. Although both Davis and Johnston had the good of the
Confederacy at heart, they were estranged and separated from the first, even
though they should have trusted each other and been in perfect accord. 3

Davis realized the seriousness of changing commanders in the presence
of the enemy, but he could not have confidence in one who had retreated from
so many strong positions. Johnston's answers had been evasive concerning the
defense of Atlanta whose fall would be most damaging to the Confederate cause,
as it would involve the loss of valuable supplies, factories and morale. 4. The
pressure to remove Johnston had been growing since the Dalton retreat. Davis
traced the movements of the retreat and said, "We had suffered a disastrous loss
of territory. 3. General Gorgas wrote on June 30th, “Johnston telegraphs he
has repulsed a general attack of the enemy, but | have little confidence in the
state of affairs in that quarter and expect to hear of retreat. 6o Obviously,
Gorgas is referring to the Battle of Kenesaw Mountain where Johnston did re~
pulse the enemy in a great victory. As to the retreat from Kenesaw, Johnston

had no other choice if Atlanta were to be saved.
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Although Bragg had visited the army several days previous to the removal,
Johnston had no idea of the real purpose of his visit. Being out to get Johnsten,
Bragg telegraphed Davis several times before he even saw Johnston, saying that
all indications seemed to favor an entire evacuation of Atlanta. Although actually
on an official visit with the purpose of selecting a new commander if Johnston
seemed to be unable to defend Atianta, Bragg never informed Johnston of this,
leaving Johnston with the impression that he was just passing through. Bragg be-
came upset because Johnston did not ask his advice. Johnston, however, like
the vasi majority of Confederate leaders, did not need or desire Bragg's advice.
When Senator George G. Vesi of Missouri, who was visiting the army, told
Johnston that Davis, as a military man, would have delivered a crushing blow,
Johnston replied, "Yes, | know that Mr. Davis thinks that he can do a great many
things that other men would hesitate to attempt. For instance, he tried to do
what God had failed to do. He tried to make a soldier of Braxton Bragg and you
know the result. It couidn't be done.”** On July 15th, Bragg sent a detailed
report to the President, stating that he had had several long visits with Johnsiton
and that he did not propose any offensive operations. The positions, numbers and
morale were all with the enemy, who should immediately be driven north of the
Chattahoochee. Painting a picture of real danger, Bragg told of the equipment
being removed from Atlanta. He concluded by saying that Hood had been in favor
of giving battle ali along (Hood had told him this), and that if there were to be
any change, he thought that Hood would give unlimited satisfaction. 8.

This brings us to a much debated question: Should there have been a
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change? If no one else thought so, General Sherman certainly did. “At this
critical momeni the Confederate Government rendered us a most valuable ser-
vice. Being dissatisfied with the Fabian policy of General Johnston, it re-
lieved him, and General Hood was substituted to command the Confederate Army.
Hood was known to us fo be a 'fighter', a graduate of West Point in the class of
1853, number forty=four, of which class two of my army commanders, McPherson
and Schofield, were number one and number seven. The character of a leader
is a large factor in the game of war, and | confess | was pleased at this change. Pun
Being far from his base and in enemy territory, Sherman would much rother meet

the enemy in the open, not behind weli-constructed parapets. Warning every
division commander to be prepared for battie in any shape, Sherman was glad to
learn that Hood was bold to reckiessness and courageous to the exireme. "l
inferred that the change of commanders meant 'fight'. This was just what we
wanted, viz., to fight in open ground, on anything iike equal terms, instead of
being forced to run up against prepared intrenchments. 10.

If Sherman's opinion of Hood was low, his opinion of Johnston was very
high. "No officer or soldier who ever served under me will question the generai-
ship of Joseph E. Johnston. His retreats were timely, in good order, and he left
nothing behind. .o |y fact, Sherman believed Johnston to be equal in all
elements of generalship to Lee. 12. The rest of the Union Army shared Sherman's
rejoicing. "Much to our comfort and to his surprise, Johnston was removed. 13,0
stated General Howard, while General Hooker said that there was universal re-

joicing by all the officers. 14.

- Page 39. -



In the Army of Tennessee and in the South we find a different opinion
prevailing. The pressure for Johnston's removal which Davis referred to must
have come from a small minerity of people close to the President. The Richmond
Whig said editorially, "It is true that, when General Johnston first began his
retrograde movement, there was a disposition, not only among unmilitary critics,
but in high official circles, to depreciate that commander's abilities, and to pre-
dict for him the most serious reverses, * but the editor goes on to say that Johnston's
reputation had “grown with every backward step” . 13. When Davis asked General
Lee's opinion, Lee replied, "General Johnston is a patriot and an able soidier.
He is upon the ground and knows his army better than any of us. 16. 4 Lee would
not support Davis as the President had hoped. Instead, Davis was attacked by the
Whig, “Owr authorities are diseased in mind, and the craziest of their crazes is the
fancied possession of an intuitive knowledge of men, especially military men. 17.

The whole Confederate Army was dissatisfied with the change. General
Hardee threatened to resign; General Clsburne felt the change to be disastrous; and
General Stewart thought that Johnston's removal would be the clinching blow in
Confederate failure. The superiority of Johnston was recognized by all his generals,
even Hood who wanted Johnston to remain in command and pocket the removal order.
The feeling of the officers was summed up by General Kirby Smith, who had taught
and commanded Hood and had served with Johnston. Smith wrote his mother, "Hood
is a soldier, Johnston the General .=-~Hood is a man of ordinary inteliect, Johnston's
brain soars above all that surrounds him." 18+ The soldiers' letters home expressed the

opinion that " Old Joe" had been grievously wronged, and that the loss of his
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generaiship would ruin them. The men loved their general. "It was very sad
news when we received orders that General Joseph E. Johnston was relieved of
command of time army and that General Hood, a junior Licutenant-General, was
placed in command. The War Department perhaps knows best, but the troops are
dissatisfied with the change, for General Johnston was the idol of the army==~.
When the order relieving him of command was read the spectacie was touching
to see; men who have borne the heat and burden of this war shed tears. 19
Sam Watkins wrote, "The most terrible and disastrous blow that the South ever
received was when Hon. Jefferson Davis placed General Hood in command of
the Army of Tennessee. | saw, | will say, thousands of men cry like babies. 20, »
Even some of the privates tendered their resignations and went home, as they

had fought gallantly for Johnston whom they loved and trusted.

On taking over the Army of Tennessee on July 18th, Hood claimed that
Johnston's continuous refreats had completely ruined the morale of the army, and
that the men no longer knew how to fight an offensive battle. “The troops of the
Army of Tennessee had for such length of time been subjected to the ruinous policy
pursued from Dalton to Atlanta that they were unfitted for united action in
pitched battle. 21. % The timid defense policy of Johnston had made the troops
scared of an offensive leader. Always sorry that he had ever left Lee, Hood com-
pared the Army of Tennessee and the Army of Northern Virginia. Lee never used
breastworks except to hold a part of the line with a small force while the main body

assailed the enemy, and he always had his cavalry fight mounted. Johnston, however,

used entrenchments so extensively that even the cavalry fought behind them. Hood
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followed the Lee and Jackson school of fighting and thought that men trained
in the Johnston school were almost useless. "1 do assert that 50, 000 men of the
Lee and Jackson school will always prove equal to 80,000 of the Johnston
school . 22" The training of the Johnston school depressed and paralyzed in-
stead of elevating and inspiriting. 2.

General Hood was incorrect in his assertion that the Army of Tennessee
had become demoralized and dispirited under the leadership of Joseph E. Johnston.
This had been the case when Johnston assumed command, but it certainly was not
the case when he relinquished it. These men were the same as those under Lee,
They knew how to fight and did so even though behind breastworks. In fact,
they enjoyed fighting for "Old Joe" in whom they had the utmost confidence and
respeci. Also, Johnston had the confidence and respect of his subordinate com~
manders.

Some of the letters of General Polk are an excellent source to see the
condition, morale and spirit of the army and the relationship between the corps
commanders and Johnston. On May 21st, he wrote his wife that the morale was
high although there had been a tough campaign so far. No one knew when Johnston
would attack, but all were ready to follow him. On May 27th near New Hope
Church, Polk wrote that the relations between the four main general officers were
very pleasani. Also, he wrote on June Ist that he had never seen troops in such
fine spirit, and on June 11th that the troops and country hod undiminished confi-
dence in General Johnston who was managing things very prudently. A baitle

probably would not be expedient until the Chattahoochee was crossed, but the
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troops were ready .
The soldiers were fighting, like their commander, for victory, not glory.
Their spirit is seen in o letter of Thomas J. Stokes from New Hope Church dated
May 27th, Hard pressed in a hot contest, the men would holler to the Yonkees,
"Come on, we are demoralized.” When their major (Kennard) was wounded, he
said, "Boys, |told them a lie and | believe that is the reason | got shot.” 2.
This regiment (the Tenth Texas) later charged and easily drove the enemy off.
At the battle of "Dead Angle” on Kenesaw Mountain, both the officers and men
hurled rocks at the enemy, and every "gopher hole” was full of prisoners and
dead Yanks. 26+ Instead of demoralizing the army, Johnston had buiit up an army
of hardened veterans who enjoyed a good fight. Generol Hardee wrote Johnston
in 1868, "1 have the honor to say that, in my opinion, the organization, morale,
and effectiveness of that army had not been impaired at its close .~~=Speaking for
my own corps, | have no hesitancy in saying that | should have led them into
action with more confidence ot the close than at the beginning of the campaign. 7.
General Stewart agrees that the morale was not impaired by the retreats and says
that Johnston was the only army commander trusted and respected by officers and
men. 8. Yet, Johnston was removed just as he had mansuvered Sherman where
he wonted him. We must now consider the actual grounds of removal and the
justification of these grounds.
The removal of Joseph E. Johnston was a grave m!stck;a, but the edministra-
tion had its reasons in addition to personal animosities. The charges against Johnston

were that he persistently disregarded the President's instructions, that he would not
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fight the enemy, that he refused to defend Atlanta, that he refused to com=
municate with Bragg as to the operations of the army, and that he made gross
exaggerations of the strength and losses of the army, disregarding all entreaties
to attack the enemy. 29.

Of these charges, only one was valid: Johnston did refuse to com=
municate with Bragg and the administration as to the operations of the army.

This refusal to communi_cote actually was the cause of the other charges, for
Johnston either refused or disdained to explain his policy. If Johnston had
not remained so aloof and if he had tried to explain the situation fo Davis and
Bragg, his removal would probably not have occurred. For, as General Grant
sald, Johnston's tactics were right. ¥+ Johnston understood from experience
what the Richmond Administration never seemed to grasp. He understood that
the Confederate Army confronted no slow-moving, inexperienced, incapably
led army, but an army of intelligently directed, hardened veterans who had to
be met on somewhat near equal terms if victory was to be assured. 3.

"It is not to be supposed that such troops under a sagacious and reso~
lute leader, and covered by intrenchments, were to be beaten by greatly in~
ferior numbers. | therefore thought it our policy to stand on the defensive, to
spare the blood of our soldiers by fighting under cover habitually, and to attack
only when bad position or division of the enemy's forces might give us advantages
counter-balancing that of superior numbers. 5o we held every position occupied
until our communications were strongly threatened; then fell back only far enough

to secure them, watching for opportunities to attack, keeping near enough to the
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Federal Army to assure the Confederate Adminisiration that Sherman could not
send reinforcements to Grant, and hoping to reduce the odds against us by
partial engagements. 32.% This was the basic policy which Johnston followed,
and it was a correct policy.

Being opposed by an army far superior in numbers and material, Johnston
fought an excellent campaign from Dalion to Atlanta. In North Georgia an
offensive campaign would have been either disastrous or indecisive. If Johnston
had taken the offensive against Sherman's superior army, a victory would have
been indecisive, as Sherman could have retreated to the fortress of Chattancoga
and quickly rebuilt his army. However, a Confederate defeat in North Georgia
would have been disastrous, as the Army of Tennessee was a hundred miles from
its strong base in Atlanta with which the only connection was the Western and
Atlantic Railroad. However, as the armies moved nearer to Atlanta, Johnston
became stronger every day. Once they crossed the Chattahoochee River, the
situation was reversed. A defeat of the Army of Tennessee near Atlanta would
be indecisive, as Johnston could fall back into Atlanta which could easily be
defended while the army was reorganized. Sherman, however, was now a hundred
miles from Chattanooga with the Chattahoochee at his back; and a defeat for him
could now prove disastrous. All this was recognized and understood by Johnston
who was preparing to assume the offensive when he was relieved of command. In
fact, Hood merely carried out the preconceived plans of Johnston when he attacked
at Peachtree Creek.

In defense of himself, Johnston said, “~==As to the alieged cause of my
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removal, | assert that Sherman's army is much stronger compared with that of
Tennessee than Grant's compared with that of Northern Virginia. Yet the
enemy has been compelled to advance more slowly to the vicinity of Atlanta,
than to that of Richmond and Petersburg; and penetrated much deeper into
Virginia than Geofgia .33+ Johnston had fought his way down fo Atlanta

more brilliantly than Lee had to Richmond, performing the wonder of conducting
an army in refreat through one hundred miles of iniricate country with only
negligible loss of men and material . 34.

As to the accusation that Johnston refused to fight the enemy, nothing
could be more absurd. Not a single day of the campaign passed without con-
tinuous skirmishing and fighting somewhere along the line in addition fo pitched
battles at Dalton, Resauca, New Hope Church, Dallas, Pickett's Mill and
Kenesaw. Johnston fought, and he foughi skillfully and wisely, drawing the
enemy as far as possible from his base while reducing his numbers and morale.
As to ignoring instructions from the President, Johnston did not receive any
detailed instructions after the campaign began except for a brief telegram early
in July warning him not to fight with the Chattahoochee at his back. 3. The
gross exaggerations of sirengths and losses were not Johnston's, but Bragg's and
Davis' exaggerations. Refusing to admit his terrible defeat at Chattancoga and
Lookout Mountain, Bragg continually told Davis that the Army of Tennessee was
much stronger than it actually was. Naturally, Hood backed up Bragg's claims.
Finally, Johnston was accused of refusing to assume the offensive. Before the

opening of the campaign this was true, as Johnston realized that an offensive was
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not feasible near Chattanooga and for from Atlanta. The relative size and
equipment of the armies and the importance of maintaining an army with which
to defend Atlanta meant that Johnston had to stand primarily on the defensive.
At Cassville, however, he had tried to assume the offensive when Sherman
divided his forces as Johnston had foreseen, but he was foiled by Hood's failure
to press the attack. Again af Peachtree Creek he had planned to attack
Sherman's divided army only to be foiled by the administration. Like Lee in
Virginia, Johnston retreated because he could not do otherwise if he were to
have an army with which to defend the South. Had Johnston abandoned Atlanta
without @ struggle, his removal would have been justified, but Johnston was not
planning to abandon Atlanta.

Thus, the removal of General Joseph E. Johnston was unjustified and
was a great mistake on the part of the Confederate Government. However,
Johnston himself was the basie couse of his removal . As he told a friend in
Richmond after his wound at Seven Pines, "The shot that struck me down was
the best ever fired for the Southern Confederacy, for | possessed in no degree
the confidence of this government . 36. 4 Johnston could have said the same
thing after his removal in 1864. A man of Johnston's military capacity should
have possessed confidence, and it was primarily his own fault that he did not, for
he never tried to explain his plans and policies to the administration. “Confident
language by a military commanding officer is not usually regarded as evidence of

37

competence. ¥ * " This view of Johnston is correct, but he should have realized

the personalities of his superiors and should have sought to explain his policies to

- Page 47 . -



Davis and Bragg. If he had only written Davis fully and frankly of what he
was planning, Johnston would not have been removed. His strategy had been
sound and his tactics brilliant; but he had been stubborn and secretive rather
than tactful like Lee. 38+

Acting upon the advice of Bragg and the correct opinion that Hood
would fight, President Davis placed John B. Hood in command of the Army of
Tennessee. Only thirty-thres years old, Hood had been an excellent brigade
and division commander under Lee and a good corps commander under Johnston.
Winning his reputation in the Army of Northern Virginia, he had proved to be
a bold, aggressive, and determined fighter although a little too sanguine. He
had been crippled at Gettysburg and had lost a leg ot Chickamauga. 3. Al-
though an excellent subordinate commander, Hood did not possess the necessary
qualities to be an army commander. Thinking that General Hardse would
make a better commander, General Lee said, “Hood is a bold fighter. | am

40.5 josiah Gorgas said later, "It

doubtful as to other qualities necessary.
is quite apparent that Hood, besides being out-numbered, is out-generaled. The
general judgment is that Hood has not the capacity for such a command. 4.0
Although brave and capable of fighting, Hood was rash, imprudent, and incompe~-
tent fo direct. General Sherman said, "We agreed that we ought to be unusually
cautious and prepared ot all times for sallies and hard fighting, because Hood, though
not deemed much of a scholar, or of great mental copacity, was undoubtedly a

brave, determined, and rash man; and the change of commanders at that particular

crisis argued the displeasure of the Confederate Government with the cautious
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but prudent conduct of General Joseph Johnston. 4Z. v Sych was the character of

the man charged with the grave responsibility of defending Atlanta.
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Chapter VI

The Battle for Atlanta

Realizing the grave responsibility which had been thrust upon him,
General Hood went to Johnston's quarters on the night of the 17th of July
and urged Johnston to pocket the dispatch and to leave Hood in charge of
his corps. Generals Hardee and Stewart joined Hood in a telegram to the
President requesting postponement of the removai, but Davis replied that the
decision had been made and that he would not change it. Even after this
reply, the three generals urged Johnston to remain, but he would not con-
sent, as he would not disobey orders. However, Johnston did explain his
plans to his successor before leaving for Macon. I

First, Johnston had expected to engage the enemy while they were
divided in crossing Peachiree Creek. If successfui, he could easily follow
and rout Sherman who would be pushed back into the Chattahoochee. If un-
successful, he could fall back to the positions in Atlanta which could be held
like those of New Hope Church. Manning the works of Atlanta and Peachtree
Creek, he would secondly, if the first stage was unsuccessful, attack one of
the Federal flanks as they approached the city, pushing the enemy to the east
part of the Chattahoochee where there were few fords. If both these plans
failed, he could still hold Atlanta and thus win the campaign. 2.

On the 17th Sherman had begun his march on Atlanta with Thomas

crossing the Chattahoochee at Paces and Powers Ferry, McPherson moving on

- Page 50, -



Atlanta by way of Decatur, and Schofield moving toward Buckhead. This
movement divided the Union Army, as Johnston had expected. Hood had
three alternatives: to fall back to Atlanta and undergo siege, to fall back

to Atlanta and then swing on Sherman's line of communication, or to attack
Sherman's divided forces. °* Being placed in command because he would
fight, Hood could not and would not fall back to Atlanta without a fight.

If he tried to swing on Sherman's line of supply and communication, he would
be forced to abandon Atlanta. Therefore, he decided to follow Johnston's
plan and attack at Peachtree Creek, as Sherman had blundered and had left
his right open for assault. Hood planned to attack the right of Sherman's
army under Thomas and then swing left to hit the flank of the rest of the
Federal Army. Stewart was on the left, Hardee in the center, and Cheatham
on the right supported by General Gustavus Smith with the Georgia Militia.
Using Cheatham to hold back Sherman's left wing, Hood would aftack Thomas
with his other iwo corps, hoping to surprise Thomas in the act of crossing the
Creek and before he could throw up breastworks. 4.

Sherman, instead of attacking Atlanta directly, planned to make a
circuit and destroy all the railroads leading into the city. 5. Feigning to his
right, he moved to his left toward Decatur. "l intended to destroy utterly all
parts of the Augusta Railroad to the east of Atlanta, then to withdraw from the
left flank and add to the right. é.% On the 18th and 19th, Sherman's forces
were maneuvering info position. Unknown to Hood, McFherson reached the

Augusta Railroad between Stone Mountain and Decatur on the afternoon of the
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18th.” * Howard was at Buckhead and Palmer was at the junction of Peachtree
and Nancy's Creek with Hooker between them. Schofield moved to the north
fork of Peachtree Creek. On the 19th, the Army of the Cumberland, despite
serious resistance, was able to establish several footholds on the south side of
Peachtree Creek preparatory to crossing the next day. Howard was ordered
to connect with Schofield, as Sherman realized that his army was divided, and
Schofield and McPherson moved eastward toward Atlanta, opposed by Wheeler's
cavalry. The morning of the 20th found Thomas pushing ahead as expected,
but the gap between Thomas and Schofield remained. Hooker's corps and
Newton's division were leading the advance across Peachiree Creek. 8.

Meeting with his corps commanders in order to assure close cooperation,
Hood set the aftack for 1:00 P, M. on July 20th. The aftack woui# be by
divisions in echelon from the right. However, General Cheatham was pressed
hard that morning and had to extend a division front to his right, making it
necessary for Hardee and Stewart to cover to the right. General Hardee delayed
so, however, that the attack did not start until 4:00 P, M. Despite the delay,
the attack still surprised the Federal Army as “without notice, the enemy came
pouring out of their trenches down upon them (Hooker's men), they became co-
mingled, and fought in many places hand to hand. 7. 10.

Again and again the men in grey charged down the slopes with a noise
and fury like Stonewali's men af Chancelorsville. 1. For four hours the battle
raged as the Confederates sought fo push the enemy back into Peachiree Creek.

Trying for a decisive engagement as had been ordered, these men showed that
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they knew how fo attack despite Hood's accusations that they had been
ruined by the policy followed from Dalton to Atlanta. Although fighting
fiercely until sundown, the Confederate Army was finally forced to withdraw
into its trenches as General Thomas brought up his artillery which swept the
whole field. Also, the advance of Sherman's left flank was much more rapid
than had been expected, forcing Hood to withdraw Cleburne'’s Division from
the attack and to send it to reinforce Cheatham and Wheeler who were hard
pressed to protect Atlanta. If this reinforcement had not been made, even
though it weakened the assault, ‘Cheatham would have been flanked, and
McPherson would have followed Wheeler infc; the city. 1.

Thus, the Confederate charge at Peachtree Creek failed. In fact,
instead of flanking Sherman, Hood was almost flanked himself. Hardee and
Stewart had led gallant charges to no avail, as they had been repulsed with
severe losses. As Robert Selph Henry said, "The battle known as Peachtree
Creek, whatever the cause, was a decided check with losses that could not
be spared. 13+ " Hood lost 4,796 men while Sherman lost only 1,710 men. 14.
Nevertheless, Hood was not through, as he fell back to the main lines of
Atlanta only to prepare another offensive movement.

The 21st of July was spent by Sherman in advancing and entrenching
his lines in front of the enemy fortifications. Finding that his flanks were in-
secure, Hood fell back from his Peachtree Creek line to the lines of Atlanta,
manning them with Cheatham's and Stewart’s Corps and the Georgia troops of

General Smith. Since he had failed on the 20th, since he had heard that
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McPherson's flank was in the air, and since the roads were in good condition,
Hood decided to send General Hardee with his four divisions on o Jacksonian -
like movement around the Federal Army. Hardee was selected as his corps
was fresher than the ofher two and as he was the most experienced corps com=~
mander. Hardee was ordered to get in the rear of McFherson's army and,
aided by Wheeler's cavairy, to attack in the morning. Once Hardee com-
menced the attack, Cheatham would join in while Stewart held back Thomas.
Cuided by members of Wheeler's cavalry who were familiar with the area,
Hardee moved to Decatur during the night, in the order of Bate, Walker,
Cleburne, and Maney. Reaching the vicinity of Decatur undiscovered, Hardee
rested his men preparatory to the attack the nexi morning. io.

On the morning of the 22nd the Federal Army advanced, as it found
that the entrenchments in front of Thomas and Schofieid had been abandoned
the previous night. Moving forward until stopped by the entrenchments of
Atlanta, Schofield and Thomas began the siege. Meanwhile, McPherson was
also ordered to close on Atlanta along the Augusta Railroad. Dodge's Corps,
which had been in reserve since the 20th, was moving forward to join Blair's
Corps near the city, when it was attacked by Walker's and Bate's Divisions of
Hardee's Corps. Since they were marching by the flank. Dodge's men had only
to halt and face left to be in line of baitle. Fuller's Division received the
brunt of the first attack which was repulsed, but the Confederates came on
again with renewed determination. Meanwhile Blair's Corps, nearer Atlanta,

also became engaged. On receiving this news, General McPherson left Dodge
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and was riding toward Blair's line when he ran into Cleburne's line of
skirmishers. Refusing to surrender and attempting to gallop away, McPherson
was mortally wounded and died almost immediately, being replaced by General
logan. Cleburne's and Maney's Divisions pressed the attack against Blair who
was cut off and forced to retreat. Although they paid dearly for the ground
gained, Hardee's men pressed on, forcing the Federals to fight from the reverse
side of their entrenchments as they had been flanked and surprised. Soon
Dodge and Blair were able to form a defensive line aided by reinforcements
from Schofield's army. 16.

Meanwhile, about 3:00 in the afternoon, Hood, who had been watching
the struggle from an advantageous point in Atlanta, ordered Cheatham to
advance in support of Hardee's left and Smith, with his militia, to attack the
weakened lines of Schofield. Cheatham's attack broke the Federal line and
forced the Federals to retreat until they could reform on high ground. Finally,
Cheatham was checked by enfilade fire from Schofield's artillery which Sherman
had ordered up. Also, Blair and Dodge took advantage of a lull in the battie
to reform their lines and to throw up breastworks. The attack of the Georgia
Militia was easily repulsed by Schofield while Thomas attempted to break
through the lines of Atlanta. However, under cover of excellent fortifications,
Stewart easily repulsed Thomas and forced him to withdraw. As night feli,
Hardee withdrew to his left in order fo connect with the Atlanta fortifications,
entrenching and preparing to defend the Macon Railroad if Sherman continued

to advance his left flank. 17
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The battle of July 22nd, commonly called the Battie of Atlanta, was,
according to Sherman who set the losses af 8,499 Confederates and 3, 641
Yankees, the hardest battle of the campaign. 18. Although fighting bravely
and fiercely, the Confederates were unable to win the decisive victory hoped
for; and they again lost more men than could be spared, as had been the case
at Peachtree Creek. General Hood later blamed Hardee for the failure,
saying, "It had rested in his power to rout McPherson's army by simply moving
a litile farther to the right; and attacking in rear and flank instead of as=~
saulting an entrenched flank. 17. % Hood, however, who needed a scapegoat
for his own failure, is unfair as Hardee actually moved to where he was
ordered and as he attacked moving columns which were not entrenched be-
hind breastworks. Although Atlanta is only six miles from Decatur, Hardee
had been forced fo move fiffeen miles in order to remain undiscovered and
in order o reach McPherson's flank and rear. The facts show that the blame,
if any, lies with Hood and not with Hardee, for General Hardee was entirely
successful in his movement and was repulsed only by a superior force after
a hard fight. 2.

Not content to let Hardee bear the blame, Hood also stated, "My failure
on the 20th and 22nd to bring about a general pitched battle arose from
the unfortunate policy pursued from Dalton to Atlanta, which had wrought
such demoralization amid rank and file as o render men unreliable in battle, 21+ *
Hood believed that troops of the Lee~Jackson school would have been successfui .

However, these were the same type men as those of the Army of Northern Vir-

ginia, and their morale and fighting ability had not been damaged in any
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way during the campaign to Atlanta. As the account of the battle shows,
they had fought to the best of their ability against overwhelming odds.

There need be no blame on the men, for they had tried, even though they
had been unsuccessful . According to Hood, the battles had been partial
successes as they had improved morale, arrested desertions, and stopped the
advance of McPherson and Schofield. 22* This may have been so, but

the great losses were a heavy price to pay for improving morale and arresting
desertion, while the entrenchments of Atlanta could have stopped Schofieid
and McPherson.

If any of the Southern troops are to be criticized, it must be the
Georgia Militia who failed in their attack on Schofield's weak position.
According to a veteran like Watkins, the militia beat a double~ringed circus
with their shotguns, umbrellas, and walking sticks. 23. Nevertheless, some
of them proved to be good fighters although largely unreliable.

When Johnston crossed the Etowah, Governor Joseph E. Brown ordered
out the militia and civil officers of the State. They were instructed to
organize into two brigades, and officers were elected. If they would not
do this, they were no longer exempt. The militia was offered to Johnsion on
the basis that the men could be recalled if the interests of the State so required.
Johnston accepted the offer, employing the militia fo guard Atlanta and the
Chatiahoochee crossings, but not using them to supplement the regular troops.
On July 9th, Governor Brown issued a proclamation calling out every man

between the ages of seventeen and fifty~five able to bear arms. Never amounting
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to more than 4,000 men, the militia was used by Hood to support Hardee's
movement but they were unsuccessful . Later they would be used to defend
the lines of Atlanta. Although adding numbers, the militia never became

an efficient fighting force which could be relied upon. In fact, they wouid
have never been called out if Atlanta had not been threatened, for Governor
Brown opposed conseription and refused to aid the general war effort, being
concerned only with the State of Georgia. At any time the militia could

be recalled, as they were in the carly fall when the time for crop planting

rolled around. Thus, Hood could rightly criticize the militia, but he had

no basis for eriticizing his army of veterans. 4.

On July 22nd, the siege of Atlanta was initiated officially, as Hood
had withdrawn info his fortifications while Sherman's army was entrenched
in his front. Although Hooker was the senior officer, Sherman appointed
General Howard to command the Army of the Tennessee. In the Army of
Tennessee, General Stephan D, Lee was appointed Commander of Hood's oid
corps with Cheatham returning to his old division in Hardee's Corps. Walker's
Division of Hardee's Corps was divided and reassigned, as General Walker
had been killed and as Hardee's Corps was so depleted by the losses of the
battle.

In moving on Atlanta by way of Decatur, Sherman's purpose had been
the irreparable destruction of the Augusta Railroad, and this had been ac~

complished by McPherson. Hood expected Sherman to continue his move to
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the left, but the question of supply and of ease in reaching the Southern
railroads made Sherman decide otherwise. “My plan of action was to move
the Army of the Tennessee to the right rapidly and boldly against the rail-
road below Atlanta, and af the same time to send all the cavalry by the
right and left to make a lodgement on the Macon road about Jonesbore . 2. »
On the morning of the Z7th, both cavalry and infantry were in motion to
the South. Although he had been disasirously repuised twice, Hood was
not ready to rely on the entrenchments of his Atlanta line. Determining

to strike Howard's right flank while it was in motion, he withdrew the di-
visions of Loring and Walthall (Stewart's Corps) to support General 5. D i
Lee, who was ordered to move out on the Lickskillet road to attack and
drive Howard from that road and from Ezra Church. Stewart was ordered
to remain near the fortifications to support Lee, and to move the next
morning (the 27th) beyond Lee in an attempt to turn Howard's flank and
attack his rear. Hardee and the militia would occupy the works of Atlanta
fo hold off Schofield and Thomas. &/ -

The Battle of Ezra Church on the 28th of July was a repeat of the fac-
tics of the 22nd. only much less successful . Twice Lee's men advanced
against Logan's Corps with their usual bravery, only to be repuised easily .
Stewart then moved his remaining two divisions to Lee's support while Blair
and Dodge moved up to aid Logan who was wounded as was Stewart. Massing
his artitlery, Howard was successiul in sweeping the field and in driving the

enemy out of range. Although hoping to turn the Coniederate repulse into a
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rout by a counterattack on their flank, Sherman was unable to move his
reserves up in time to launch the attack. During the Battle of Ezra Church,
Sherman also hoped to break through into Atlanta. "I thought Hood had
greatly weakened his main lines inside of Atlanta, and accordingly sent
repeated orders to Schofield and Thomas to make an attempt to break in;
but both reported they found the parapets very sirong and full manned. ..
Thus, as on the 20th and 22nd, Hood had tried to assume the offensive only
to be severely repulsed. Hood skims over this battle in his memoirs, but
Sherman estimates the Federal losses at 700 men and the Confederate losses
at 4 63Z; and this estimate is nearly accurate. 27. Hood was now forced to
withdraw again into Atlanta. 30.

Sustaining his reputation for gallantry and reckless courage, Hood
had, for the third time in a week, tried to defeat Sherman's three armies
by the useless charge of a single corps. These three battles had decimated
his inferior army so that President Davis finally wrote him, "The loss con-
sequent upon attacking him in his intrenchments requires you to avoid that,
if possible. 31 +" Convinced by his three sallies that General Johnston had
not erred in standing on the defensive and conserving his forces, Hood now
withdrew to the parapets of Atlanta while Sherman laid siege to the city.
Both sides now dug in and faced each other from behind prepared breastworks.
For more than a month the cannonade against Atlanta continued.

Meanwhile, Sherman's cavalry moved south of Atlanta as planned. With

his flanks strongly anchored on the Chattahoochee, Sherman was able to
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utilize all his cavalry in an attempt to tear up the Macon Railroad and to
free the prisoners at Andersonville. Coincident with the troop movement

of the 27th, Stoneman, Garrard and McCook moved south of Atlanta.
Moving by the right flank, McCook succeeded in reaching Lovejoy's Sta-
tion, which is on the Macon Road eight miles below Jonesboro and thirty
miles below Atlanta. Unable to unite with Stoneman as planned, he
destroyed a section of the railroad and captured some wagons and prisoners.
However, he was surrounded at Newnan as he was returning and was badly
defeated, iosing his prisoners and some six hundred men to General Jackson.
Moving by the left flank, Stoneman managed to destroy a part of the Macon
and Augusta Railroad and to shell the city of Macon; but he, too, was soon
surrounded, and defeated by General Wheeler. With the defeat of the
Union cavairy complete, Hood decided to send General Wheeler with

4,000 men in a similar operation against Sherman's line of communication
and supply . However, Wheeler, who moved north on August 10th, did not
have a sufficient force to do any real damage, although he moved all the
way up to Dalton. Earlier, General Johnston and Governor Brown had urged
that Nathan Bedford Forrest be sent against Sherman's raiiroad, but President
Davis and Bragg never understood what the cavalry might accomplish in
North Georgia, and therefore would not order Forrest to operate in that area.
Although Johnston had desired to initiate cavalry operations in Sherman's
rear, he had realized that he could not spare his own cavalry for such an opera-

tion. In sending Wheeler north, Hood provided Sherman with an unexpected
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opportunity, as he weakened his forces and lost his mobility . 32.

Both commanders admitted the failure of their cavalry operations in
each other's rear. Hood said, "3o vast were the facilities of the Federal
Commander to reinforce his line of skirmishers, extending from Nashville
to Atlanta, that we could not bring together a sufficient force of cavalry
to accomplish the desired objective. 3. Learning that his cavalry had
been most unsuccessful around Jonesboro, Sherman still had his large army,
while Hood no longer had the advantage of his superior cavalry. Sherman
said, "l now became satisfied that cavalry could not, or would not, make
a sufficient lodgement on the railroad below Atlanta, and that nothing would
sutfice but for us to reach it with the main army. 4.

Since his cavalry operations had failed and since he was unable to
take Atlanta by direct assault, Sherman now planned to move his army toward
East Point and the Macon Railroad. Understanding the character of his
Confederate counterpart, Sherman fully expected that such a movement would
not be made without an attack from Hood. "l always expected to have a
desperate fight to get possession of the Macon Read, which was then the vital
objective of the campaign. lis possession by us would, in my judgment, result
in the capture of Atlanta, and give us the fruits of victory. 5.4 On the
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